IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JACKSON-SHAW COMPANY,

Appellant,

v. Case No. SC07-2235

JACKSONVILLE AVIATION AUTHORITY,

Appellee.

ON CERTIFICATION OF QUESTIONS BY THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE ELEVENTH CIRCUIT

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

TANNER BISHOP

Michael G. Tanner, Esq. Stuart F. Williams, Esq. One Independent Drive, Suite 1700 Jacksonville, FL 32202 (904) 598-0034 (904) 598-0395 facsimile mtanner@tannerbishoplaw.com swilliams@tannerbishoplaw.com

MILLS & CREED, P.A.

John S. Mills, Esq.
Bryan S. Gowdy, Esq.
865 May Street
Jacksonville, FL 32204
(904) 350-0075
(904) 350-0086 facsimile
jmills@appellate-firm.com
bgowdy@appellate-firm.com

Attorneys for Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Florida Constitution forbids public bodies from becoming a "joint owner" with a private entity and from giving, lending, or using their "taxing power or credit to aid" a private entity. Fla. Const. art. VII, § 10. The United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit has asked this Court to decide whether this provision prohibits a public body from investing public funds and other resources into a commercial development operated by a private company under a transaction in which the public body's return on its investment will depend on the profitability of the private company.

Course of Proceedings and Disposition Below

The Appellant Jackson-Shaw Company brought a declaratory action in federal court challenging an option and lease agreement between the Jacksonville Aviation Authority (the "Authority" or "JAA") and Majestic Realty, Inc. ("Majestic")¹ involving a 328-acre parcel of undeveloped public land near the Jacksonville International Airport. (R:65:2-3, 6.) Jackson-Shaw contended that the agreement violated article VII, section 10 of the Constitution of the State of

Technically, the private party to the agreement at issue in this case is Woodwings East Development, LLC, a "single-purpose entity formed for the purpose of the Option." (Pl. Exh. 214 at 1.) Majestic is the managing partner of this entity. (Pl. Exh. 214 at 33.) For purposes of this appeal, there is no reason to distinguish between the entities because both are clearly private entities for purposes of the constitution. Accordingly, the federal trial court, the Eleventh Circuit, and this brief all refer to both parties simply as "Majestic."

Florida on two alternative grounds: (1) the agreement made the Authority a joint owner of the development project with Majestic, and (2) the Authority was lending its public credit and funds to Majestic. (R:65:6.)

Jackson-Shaw further alleged that it was a direct competitor of Majestic and that the agreement provided Majestic with an unfair competitive advantage because the Authority improperly subsidized Majestic's costs. (R:65:7.) As a result, Jackson-Shaw alleged that it would lose customers and profits. (R:65:7.) Accordingly, Jackson-Shaw sought a judgment declaring the agreement to be invalid, null, and void. (R:65:8.) The Authority asserted in its answer that the development agreement was merely a long-term lease that did not violate the Florida Constitution. (R:63:8.)

The federal trial court conducted a four-day bench trial in October 2006. (R:89-92.) In January 2007, the court entered a 100-page opinion setting forth detailed findings of fact and concluding that the transaction did not violate article VII, section 10. (R:97:71-90.) On appeal, the Eleventh Circuit concluded that resolution of this question raised important state law questions that had not been settled by Florida courts, and it certified the following two questions to this Court:

- 1. IS THE JAA A "JOINT OWNER" PROHIBITED BY ARTICLE VII, SECTION 10 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION BY VIRTUE OF ITS OBLIGATIONS UNDER THE AGREEMENT?
- 2. IS THE JAA IMPERMISSIBLY PLEDGING ITS "CREDIT" UNDER ARTICLE VII, SECTION 10 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION BY VIRTUE OF ITS OBLIGATIONS UNDER THE AGREEMENT?

(11th Circ. Opinion at 10.)

The Facts²

The property at issue, referred to as Woodwings East, is a 328-acre tract of unimproved public land southeast of Jacksonville International Airport along Interstate 295 and about a mile from Interstate 95. (R:97:8.) The property is owned by the Authority, which is a political subdivision of the State of Florida. (R:97:5 (citing 2004 Fla. Laws 464, § 14).) At least a portion of the property had been acquired by eminent domain. (R:97:8.)

The federal trial court made detailed findings of fact that were not challenged by the parties on appeal or rejected by the Eleventh Circuit. Accordingly, this statement of facts cites directly to the trial court's findings whenever possible. (R:97:3-41.)

The parties' pretrial stipulation provides a color-coded map indicating the parcels acquired by eminent domain. (R:60:Exhibit D.) It shows five colored sub-parcels, which were acquired by eminent domain and account for a substantial majority of the entire parcel. A copy of the map itself is included in the attached appendix at **Tab 2**.

Events Leading Up to Negotiations with Majestic

In 1998, the Authority negotiated with The St. Joe Company about developing the property. (R:97:8.) When another developer objected, the Authority publicly solicited bids for the development rights. (R:97:8-9.) St. Joe and two other developers submitted bids, and the Authority selected St. Joe. (R:97:9.) The Authority and St. Joe, however, never consummated an agreement. (R:97:9.)

Thereafter, the Authority retained a consulting firm to determine the highest and best use for the property, and it concluded that it should be developed for light industrial and commercial use, including hotels, restaurants, and service stations. (R:97:9.) Among the options the Authority considered was "forming partnership with developer to build facilities," although its executive director later testified that they only meant this in the sense of "engender[ing] a sense of a business working relationship," such as with a tenant. (R:97:10-11.) The Authority never had the property appraised, and guessed at its value based on its nearby negotiated purchase of a 36.5-acre parcel, half of which was in wetlands and all of which was zoned for single-family residences. (R:97:9.) Based on this transaction, the Authority believed in 2005 that the Woodwings East parcel was worth between \$35,000 and \$50,000 per acre. (R:97:10.) The trial court found that there was "a

He testified that the Authority knew it was prohibited from forming partnerships with private entities. (R:97:11.)

substantial question" as to whether the Authority should have appraised the property and whether it undervalued the property. (R:97:10.)

The Authority never listed the property, nor did it retain an agent to market it. (R:97:12.) All it did was place a single "for lease" sign on the property and develop a one-page brochure stating that it was interested in developing the property for commercial and industrial purposes. (R:97:12.) The brochure did not indicate that the Authority would consider a long-term lease. (R:97:12.) It never considered soliciting bids to develop the property because of its mistaken belief that there had been only one party interested in the parcel in the past. (R:97:12-13.) In fact, in addition to St. Joe and the other two bidders from 1999, which the Authority's witnesses had forgotten about, another developer, Patillo Construction Company, had inquired about the land in 2004. (R:97:13.)

In 2004 and 2005, Jackson-Shaw and Majestic became interested in developing commercial property near the airport. (R:97:3-4, 8, 14.) The two companies are large-scale developers involved in the development of office and industrial properties throughout the nation. (R:97:3, 7-8.)

In 2004, Jackson-Shaw began investigating the market and by late summer of 2005, it made an offer on a privately-owned parcel of property, known as the Jacksonville International Tradeport (the "Tradeport"). (R:97:3-4.) Jackson-Shaw closed the sale in February 2006 for over \$58 million, representing \$109,000 per

acre. (R:97:4.) This property currently has just under a million square feet of industrial warehouse and office space, which was almost fully leased at the time of trial. (R:97:4.) Over the next five years, Jackson-Shaw has plans to build an additional million square feet in hotels, restaurants, office buildings, and warehouses. (R:97:4-5.) Meanwhile, between the time Jackson-Shaw went to contract and closed on the Tradeport, Majestic purchased a smaller tract for over \$5 million, representing \$108,900 per acre. (R:97:7-8.)

The southern boundary of Jackson-Shaw's Tradeport parcel borders the northern boundary of Woodwings East. (R:97:3; *see also* R:91:146-47; Pl. Exh. 209.)⁵ It is separated from Interstate 295 by Woodwings East. (R:91:147-48; Pl. Exh. 209.) Majestic's parcel is west of the northern part of Jackson-Shaw's Tradeport parcel and borders it on the south. (R:89:85; R:90:22-23; Pl. Exh. 42, 209.)⁶ In other words, Majestic's parcel is separated from the Woodwings East parcel by a substantial portion of Jackson-Shaw's parcel.

Plaintiff's Exhibit 209 is an aerial photograph depicting the locations of Woodwings East, the Tradeport, and the airport. (R:91:146-47.)

Plaintiff's Exhibit 42 is a map of Jackson-Shaw's parcel. (R:89:60-61.) Majestic's parcel is the southern-most 46.8 acres of the parcel labeled "62.66 Acres Available" in the northwest corner of that map (R:89: 85; R:90:22-23.)

Copies of this exhibit and Exhibit 209 (the aerial photograph showing the relation of Woodwings East, the Tradeport, and the airport) are attached to this brief at **Tabs 3** and **4**, respectively. For comparison sake, it should be noted that the photograph is oriented with the top facing west, while the top of the map faces north.

Jackson-Shaw never saw the "for lease" sign at Woodwings East and had no idea that the Authority would consider a long-term lease of the property until it read in the newspaper that the Authority had approved a lease with Majestic. (R:97:24.) Jackson-Shaw mistakenly believed that the Authority was only interested in short-term leases, which would not be viable for Jackson-Shaw. (R:97:24.) Executives for Majestic, however, did see the sign and called the Authority to inquire about details in February 2005. (R:97:14.)

The Negotiations with Majestic

Majestic proposed "a preliminary overview of the real estate and partnership structure," by which Majestic would develop the property without subordinating the Authority's fee title to the required financing and the two parties would evenly split the net revenues from the development. (R:97:14-15.) They discussed a two-part transaction: The Authority would give Majestic a free five- to fifteen-year option to lease the property in sub-parcels, and if and when Majestic exercised its option, it would enter into 65-year "participating ground leases" for any sub-parcels it wanted. (R:97:16.) Rent would be one-half of the "net revenue" from the parcel, which would be the rent paid by subtenants to Majestic less Majestic's development, capital, and administrative expenses. (R:97:16.) Majestic described this arrangement as "a long-term partnership with" the Authority. (R:97:17.) It produced financial projections suggesting that the Authority could generate nearly

\$900 million in revenue and, at the end of the bases, take possession of improved property worth over \$700 million. (R:97:17.) Nobody for the Authority ever made any attempt to verify these projections or determine how much the Authority could realistically expect to earn. (R:97:18-20.)

Majestic prepared a binder and power point presentation about the proposed deal to present to the Authority's board. (R:89:76-77; Pl. Exh. 99.) In this presentation, they provided a graphical flowchart depicting an "overview" of the proposed transaction. (Pl. Exh. at 226JA00038.)⁷ The chart shows the Authority and Majestic joining together into the participating ground lease arrangement – with the Authority providing "vacant land" and Majestic providing "entitlement, design, finance, construction, management, leasing and operation" – and then taking out equal shares of the net revenue. (Pl. Exh. at 226JA00038.)

In November 2005, staff members of the Authority and representatives of Majestic scheduled a series of individual meetings with each member of the Authority's board. (R:97:20.) They scheduled a separate meeting with each board member in the same room, one after another. (R:97:20.) They operated in this

A copy of this chart is attached to this brief at **Tab 5**. It is a power point slide included as part of Plaintiff's Exhibit 99. Plaintiff's Exhibit 99 included the entirety of a presentation Majestic prepared for the Authority, dated November 15, 2005, which was submitted to the district court in a binder. (R:89:76-77.) The chart, bearing Bates Stamp number 26JAA00038, is the third page of a group of power point slides inserted in the front inside sleeve of the Plaintiff's Exhibit 99 binder.

fashion to avoid the requirements of the Florida government in the sunshine laws that require any meeting with multiple board members to be public. (R:97:20.) A board meeting was publicly noticed on December 13, and six days later the board met and unanimously approved the concept and authorized Authority staff to enter into and execute all necessary agreements. (R:97:20-24.)

Shortly after Jackson-Shaw officials saw the newspaper article reporting the board's approval, Jackson-Shaw filed suit to stop the transaction. (R:1; R:97:24.) By that time, however, officials for the Authority had concluded that they would not consider other proposals to lease and develop the property, even if more lucrative proposals were made. (R:97:25.) They did not think that would be fair to Majestic and would harm the Authority's reputation in negotiations on other parcels in the future. (R:97:25.) Accordingly, they continued to negotiate with Majestic throughout the pre-trial proceedings. (R:97:25-27.)

The Authority was advised by its counsel that the agreement might violate the Florida Constitution's prohibition against "entering into joint ventures and partnerships" unless the leases provided for a guaranteed minimum return. (R:97:25-26.) The Authority therefore advised Majestic that it had to have a "'guaranteed return' or income on the venture." (R:97:25-26.) The Authority's vice president in charge of real estate proposed that Majestic agree to pay rent in the amount of the greater of \$500 per acre or one-half the net revenue, and that the

Authority would in turn pay Majestic \$600 per acre for infrastructure and related expenses. (R:97:26.) This proposal, which the trial court found to be an "ill-considered idea to try to circumvent the Florida Constitution," was abandoned. (R:97:26.) Instead, the parties negotiated a minimum rent amount of \$1,380 per acre. (R:97:26.) The Authority came up with this number by calculating a seven-percent rate of return using the \$16,000 per acre purchase price it had paid for nearby residential property. (R:97:26.)

Around this same time, in May 2006, Jackson-Shaw made a formal offer to lease 25 acres of Woodwings East for fixed rent to begin at over \$8,700 per acre per year to increase every five years by half of the increase in the appraised value. (R:97:27-28.) Jackson-Shaw's proposed initial rent figure represented an eight-percent return on the appraised fair market value of the property (R:97:27-28) and was more than six times greater than Majestic's guaranteed rent. Jackson-Shaw's offer provided for a rolling option for future leases, 25 acres at a time. (R:97:28.) Whenever a lease was executed, Jackson-Shaw would have the right to pay the Authority \$25,000 for a five-year option on an additional 25 acres. (R:97:28.) At all times, the Authority would be free to do whatever it wanted with any land in Woodwings East not subject to a lease or option. (R:97:28.) Unlike the

This per acre value is about half the market value that the Authority believed the property was worth (R:97:10) and less than 15% of the per acre price that Jackson-Shaw and Majestic had paid for their neighboring parcels that year (R:97:4, 7-8).

Authority's deal with Majestic, Jackson-Shaw would not receive any free options, and there would be no sharing of revenue. (R:97:28-29.) In July 2006, the Authority's attorneys informed Jackson-Shaw that the Authority would not respond to the offer while the litigation was pending. (R:97:29.)

After further negotiations, Majestic eventually provided the Authority with an executed agreement, and on October 9, 2006, the day before the trial started, the Authority signed it. (R:97:27.) Thus, by the start of the trial, the Authority had entered into what purported to be a binding agreement. (R:97:27.)

The Agreement with Majestic

The agreement between Majestic and the Authority is titled "Option to Ground Lease Agreement." (R:97:29; Pl. Exh. 214.) As its title implies, the agreement contains both an option component and a lease component. While a detailed review of its provisions with citations to the record follows, the agreement can be summarized as follows:

The Authority must invest the following resources up front: (1) encumber the entire parcel for up to 15 years so that no other development may take place, (2) construct a road on the parcel at a cost of \$750,000, and (3) provide up to \$2.375 million worth of wetlands mitigation credit. The Authority receives no compensation or reimbursement for any of this, and Majestic has no obligation in return for receiving the benefit of these investments. If Majestic elects to develop

a parcel, then the Authority must invest a 65-year leasehold interest in the parcel in exchange for the greater of (a) fixed rent that is a fraction of the market rental value or (b) half of the project's "net revenue" after Majestic has been reimbursed for every penny it has invested in the project (including prior minimum fixed rent payments), been paid substantial development and management fees, and been paid interest after 2.5 points over prime for all of the foregoing. For purposes of this appeal, the key facts are that the Authority is investing public resources on the front end and its return on the back end, if any, will be dependent upon the degree of success of the project.

The option encumbers the Authority's title to the entire 328-acre parcel and contemplates that Majestic may elect to enter into separate leases on sub-parcels. (R:97:30-31.) The option has an initial term of five years, but for every 100,000 square feet of building area completed by Majestic during the option term, the term is extended by a year, which allows Majestic to extend the term to a total of fifteen years. (R:97:30-31.) The five-year term does not begin until this litigation is finalized, although even with extensions, the total term may not extend beyond fifteen years from the date the agreement was signed. (R:97:31.)

The Authority does not pay anything in return for the option. (R:97:30.) Even once it exercises the option as to a sub-parcel, Majestic has no obligation to enter into any lease until both the Authority approves Majestic's development plan

for the sub-parcel and Majestic achieves certain "performance benchmarks" over four years. (R:97:31-32.) These benchmarks set a timeline for site work, wetlands compliance, submission of the development plan to the City of Jacksonville, and applying for permits. (R:97:31.) The Authority's only remedy should Majestic not meet these benchmarks is to terminate the option as to the relevant sub-parcel. (R:97:31.)

While Majestic has no binding obligations under the option, the Authority does. In addition to encumbering property that otherwise could be rented out or used by the Authority, it must spend up to \$750,000 to construct an extension of a road through the parcel⁹ and give Majestic up to fifty acres of wetlands credit that Majestic may be required to acquire to develop the project.¹⁰ (R:97:32.) These credits are worth between \$47,500 and \$62,500 each, which translates to at least \$2.375 million for all fifty credits. (R:97:38.)

Should the option expire or terminate (other than due to breach by the Authority) as to a particular sub-parcel, Majestic is still entitled to recoup its costs on that sub-parcel from the revenue on any other sub-parcels that are under lease.

Though not previously obligated to build this extension, the Authority had previously planned and budgeted this part of the project. (R:97:32.)

If Majestic requires additional wetlands credits after that, it will be reimbursed out of the gross revenue on the project before any revenue rent will be due the Authority under the leases. (R:97:33.)

(R:97:33.) If the Authority breaches the agreement, it must reimburse Majestic for all of these expenses. (R:97:33.)

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