IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JACKSON-SHAW COMPANY,

Appellant,

v. Case No.: SC07-2235

JACKSONVILLE AVIATION AUTHORITY,

Appellee,

ON CERTIFICATION OF QUESTIONS BY THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE ELEVENTH CIRCUIT

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CINDY A. LAQUIDARA CHIEF DEPUTY GENERAL COUNSEL Florida Bar No.: 0394246 Office of General Counsel 117 West Duval Street, Suite 480 Jacksonville, Florida 32202 (904) 630-1700 (Telephone) (904) 630-1316 (Fax) Attorneys for Appellee

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The law at issue here has been long-since settled by this Court. Where a public entity, such as the JAA, has the legal authorization to lease property and it does so without lending public money, it neither violates Fla. Const. art. VII, §10's prohibition against joint ownership nor its prohibition against lending credit. That is the case here, as the undisputed facts show and the court below held.

The district court properly held that the JAA is not a joint owner of its own property with a private entity, where it found that: (1) the JAA retains ownership of its real property, which will not be subject to lien or sale; (2) the JAA will have no responsibility for any debts incurred in developing the property; and (3) Majestic is the Lessee and JAA the Lessor, and nothing in any of the documentation is, by Appellant's own admission, different from any other such lessor/lessee arrangement. In order to be a joint owner, the JAA would have to share losses and be responsible for lessee Majestic's debts and other obligations, which the JAA does not share. (R:97, 80-89)

No funds are being borrowed by the JAA and invested into this leasing site. The JAA specifically sought and obtained a developer to act as lessee who would carry all the risk and who would itself fund all of the necessary infrastructure without requiring JAA to expend any funds or dip into its bond funding capacity. (R:97:22-24)

The only actual expenditure by the JAA is a \$750,000 public road, which the district court held had been planned and funded prior to entering into negotiations with Majestic. (R:97:13, 65-66). Moreover, the law has long held that the construction of a public road is a proper public expenditure, regardless of whether a private entity benefits, as such is usually the case.

The contention by Appellant that the JAA agreed to spend \$2 million on wetlands mitigation is not supported by the findings of the district court or the record. The JAA made no financial commitment to Majestic, and Jackson-Shaw put nothing in the record to quantify the need for mitigation. (R:97:56-66) Instead, as determined to be in the best interest of the JAA by its Board, the JAA placed only vacant property, which had been unused for 40 years, into the agreement, and allowed Majestic to use up to 50 acres of that property as mitigation if needed for the development of JAA's property. (R:97:66) As held by the district court:

The evidence at trial established that the Woodwings East property was marketed, albeit not extensively; that the marketing did attract an interested developer; that the JAA determined Majestic's proposal to be consistent with the Authority's goal to expand and diversify its sources of revenue; that JAA determined the transaction would be advantageous to the Authority and would raise significant revenue for the Authority's operations in the future; and that the proposed transaction would put to use and make productive property that had sat vacant for years. With the exception of committing the use of 328 acres of its land for up to 80 years, the Authority

determined it will be exposed to no risk of loss or out of pocket expenses now or in the future other than spending \$750,000 for a public road, which it had already approved and budgeted for, and providing up to 50 acres of wetlands mitigation for property in which it retains a fee ownership interest.

(R:97:65-66)

The district court's findings, that over the course of the transaction, Majestic would make approximately \$1.1 billion dollars and the JAA \$900 million dollars, does not support a finding that the JAA was a joint owner in violation of Fla. Const. art. VII, \$10 or that there was no public purpose, but does quite the opposite. Appellant provided no present-day analysis of the difference between having the JAA borrow funds to add to the deal, as is typically the case with the lessor, in comparison with the JAA placing vacant land into the hands of a nationally-recognized developer to develop at its expense. Thus, even if it were appropriate for the district court to consider the relative merits of the deals, which (the court correctly recognized) it is not (R:97, 99-100), the record is devoid of any actual basis on which to do so.

Appellants have been unable to identify a single case in which a public agency lessor has violated the Fla. Const. art. VII, §10 by leasing vacant land. To the contrary, the cases are legion that developing vacant public land is for a public purpose and that, having been granted the authority by the legislature to do so, the

public agency may do so without violating Fla. Const. art. VII, §10 under terms it deems in the public's best interest. (R:97,89)

Appellant erroneously recites in its Statement of Facts that Majestic may pledge the property and recoup its loan balance; again, this is contrary to the direct findings of the district court and the undisputed record. What the district court held, accurately, is that the real property *cannot* be subordinated to a lender: that the lender has no right to foreclose on the property, only on the building, which will be built with private funds, not with any public funds. (R:97:65-66)

As held by the district court:

Without dispute, the JAA has the *power* to lease its nonaeronautical land. 2004 Fla. Laws 464, §§ 1(1); 3(1)(8)(19) and (20). . . . [T]he Authority, by leasing the property in question, was exercising a power conferred on it by its Charter. *Bannon*, 246 So.2d 737, 740 (Fla. 1971). Where bonds are not issued, public funds are not spent, and the power of eminent domain is not exercised, a public entity, such as the JAA, may lease public land for private uses in accordance with its legislative authority. [*citing City of West Palm Beach*, 291 So.2d at 578] "Although the use may be for purely private purposes, the leasing of the property may nevertheless constitute a valid public purpose." [*citing Furnams*, 377 So.2d at 987].

(R:97, 71) (emphasis in original)

The district court, in considering the evidence offered regarding the construction of the previously-funded and planned public road, the inclusion of wetland mitigation, and the long-term nature of the lease, found following a

four-day trial, that these facts did not rise to the level required under *Bannon*, *City of West Palm Beach* or *Furnams* to constitute a lending of credit under Fla. Const. art. VII, §10. Jackson-Shaw's insistence that this is solely a matter of law belies the multiple key findings of fact made by the district court, not the least of which is that the participating ground lease is in fact a lease. (R:97, 63) ("... under both general law and the JAA Charter it is a lease") or a transfer of title equating to ownership. (R:97, 77), noting that the existence of a joint venture is a jury question, also holding as follows:

"[O]wnership connotes the right of one or more persons to possess and use a thing to the exclusion of others. . . involving as an essential attribute the right to control, handle, and dispose. . . . ", (R:97,81) In any event, JAA and Majestic are not "joint owners" having a joint proprietary interest in anything together; the JAA is fee simple owner of 328 acres of land called Woodwings East, and Majestic is owner of an option right to lease land, and under the PGL, the owner of a leasehold interest with the right to use and occupy the property for a fixed term of years, as well as owner of the improvements which it will make on the land (which will revert to the JAA at the termination of the ground lease).

(R:97, 81-82, n.38) citations omitted; emphasis added. Moreover, Jackson-Shaw is unable to identify a single contrary case to those applied by the district court, nor has it identified any error in the court's application of the seminal case to the facts as found by it.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Contrary to that set forth by Jackson-Shaw, the standard of review here is whether the decision below is clearly erroneous. "It is evident from *Holland v. Gross* [89 So.2d 255, 258 (Fla. 1956], that the less restrictive "clearly erroneous" standard applies to trial court findings that are essentially inferences drawn from undisputed facts." Philip J. Padovano, Appellate Practice, §9.6 (2007-2008). Appellant states that the standard of review on appeal is *de novo*, urging that the appeal presents a question of law. In support of its argument for a *de novo* approach, "Jackson-Shaw accepts the district court's findings of fact." (R:102:19). As stated above, however, the Florida Supreme Court applies the clearly erroneous standard in this instance, and the more deferential standard of competent substantial evidence if there are disputed facts resolved by the district court and addressed on appeal. *Id*.

Jackson-Shaw, moreover, fails to point out to this Court that the question of the existence *vel non* of a joint venture is a question of fact. *USA Independence Mobilehome Sales, Inc. v. City of Lake City*, 908 So.2d 1151, 1158 (Fla. 1st DCA 2005). Under Florida law, "[w]hether or not a group of persons constitute [sic] a joint venture is usually a question of fact, to be resolved by the jury." *Misco-United Supply Inc. v. Petroleum Corp.*, 462 F.2d 75, 79 (5th Cir. 1972) (citations omitted).

One of the important fact questions is the intent of the parties to create the joint venture. *Id.; accord, Kislak v. Kreedian*, 95 So.2d 510, 515-516 (Fla. 1957). "The question of whether the parties to a particular contract have created between themselves the relationship of joint venture is dependent upon their intentions, . . ." *Id., quoting from Tidewater Constr. Co. v. Monroe County*, 146 So. 209 (Fla. 1933). The district court squarely found, following testimony, that there was no intention to form a joint venture. (R:97:76). There is no basis on which to overturn this finding of fact.

The district court also held, after hearing testimony from JAA's executive director and Board members, among others, that the necessary elements to the creation of a joint venture were missing, holding that there was no: (1) community of interest in the performance of a common purpose, (2) joint control or right of control, (3) joint proprietary interest in the subject matter, (4) right to share in the profits, or (5) duty to share in the losses which may be sustained. (R:97:74) *USA Independence*, 908 So.2d at 1158.; *see also Williams v. Obstfeld*, 314 F.3d at 1275-76.

Jackson-Shaw agrees with these principles of law, and agrees that the district court correctly relies on them. (R:102:38) Jackson-Shaw fails to recognize from the cases it cites that "where any factor is missing" a court is preclude[d] from finding that a . . . joint venture exits. *Williams v. Obsfeld*, 314 F.3d at 1275-76. As

held recently by the Florida First District Court of Appeal, "the standard [for finding a joint venture] has been construed strictly, so that the absence of even one of the five elements has precluded the finding of a joint venture." *USA Independence*, 908 So.2d at 1158.

In short, all parties, including Jackson-Shaw, agree that the standard of review for a joint venture must be based on the factors identified above. As such, Jackson-Shaw has not raised a valid appellate issue relating to the finding of joint ventures in this appeal, but urges only that this court reject the indicia. In doing so, Jackson-Shaw fails to recognize that the questions are one of fact drawn from trial testimony and that the appropriate standard of review is "clearly erroneous".

ARGUMENT

I. THE CONSTRUCTION OF A PUBLIC ROAD AND THE INCLUSION OF WETLANDS FOR MITIGATION IN A PARTICIPATING GROUNDLEASE WITHOUT CHARGE IS NOT LENDING CREDIT IN VIOLATION OF ART. VII, §10 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

A. Introduction

These issues have been fully addressed by the district court in its opinion. (R:97,67-90), and briefed before the 11th Circuit. In both the foregoing, and as set forth below, it is apparent that there is no violation of Fla. Const. art. VII, §10.

Article VII, §10 of the Florida Constitution provides in pertinent part:

Neither the state nor any county or agency of any of them, shall . . . give, lend, or use its taxing power or credit to aid any corporation, association, partnership or person. . . .

Fla. Const. art. VII, §10. It is undisputed that the JAA has no taxing authority, (R:97, 6) and the question therefore lies whether it has lent its credit to aid Majestic by entering into a long-term ground lease without a guaranteed income,³ building a public road and not charging for some mitigation lands within the leased property. This Court has put questions such as these to rest some time ago.

In order for the JAA to have lent credit, a debt or "imposition of new financial liability" must be created for the benefit of a private enterprise at the

³ Income is projected to approximate \$900 million to the JAA. (R:97, 39)

expense of the JAA. *Nohrr v. Brevard County Educational Facilities Authority*, 247 So.2d 304, 309 (Fla. 1971). There is here no undertaking by the JAA to pay the debt of another, no undertaking to use public funds or place them in jeopardy and no risk that the JAA's real property could be lost due to a default by Majestic. (R:97, 79-80) *See State v. Housing Finance Authority of Polk County*, 376 So.2d 1158 (Fla. 1979). Indeed, there is no obligation here to "either directly or contingently be liable to pay anything to anybody." *Linscott v. Orange County Industrial Dev. Authority*, 443 So.2d 97, 101 (Fla. 1983). (R:97,86)

As held by the district court, and found as a matter of fact: the JAA had budgeted and planned to build the public road, the provision of possible acreage to contribute towards wetland mitigation is merely a term of the lease and does not obligate the JAA to pay anything to anyone, and the JAA would be required to mitigate against wetland damage even if it developed the property itself:

Here, as in *Bannon, supra*, JAA's participation in the transaction is limited to that of a lessor. It has no responsibility for financing, promotion, or development of Majestic's commercial project. The Authority bears no direct or indirect obligation to pay any debt and its fee interest in the 328 acre Woodwings East tract is not obligated, encumbered or in any way placed in jeopardy by any potential default by Majestic. . . .Jackson-Shaw incorrectly equates alleged 'public financial assistance' to Majestic to an unconstitutional lending of credit.

(R:97, 86) The participating ground lease was structured to preserve precious capital fund dollars for use at the Jacksonville International Airport. (R:97,11, 87,

89). The JAA did not want to expend funds to build an infrastructure, or otherwise pay a developer, to develop Woodwings East; in fact, it did not want to take *any* financial risk.⁴

The district court's findings are not clearly erroneous, where even Jackson-Shaw admits that the JAA is going to gain hundreds of millions of dollars for the public coffers. (R:97, 39). Indeed, in arguing for a novel interpretation of the Florida Constitution that ignores the key terms "joint owner" and "lending credit", Jackson-Shaw argues both that the JAA would put public capital at risk because there is no *guaranteed* return and, second, that the Participating Ground Lease is unconstitutional because Majestic and JAA will make so much money due to the structure of the lease that Jackson-Shaw would be forced to reduce its own unilateral charges to the market to compete. Of course, government participation in the market is not subject to an equity test under any provision of the Florida Constitution, including Fla. Const. art. VII, §10. Furthermore, it would require a

_

⁴ It is ironic, to say the least, that in attempting to preserve taxpayer funds and not place them at risk whatsoever, the JAA is accused of violating a constitutional provision aimed at achieving that same goal. It is also ironic that the Jackson-Shaw deal, as proffered, required the JAA to expend public dollars to complete an infrastructure valued at \$12 to \$14 million dollars before it would lease any property from it. Accordingly, while the Appellant argues that it offered \$28,000 per acre, it certainly put no *net* figure on the table, and has presented no evidence the public would ever come out ahead. In contrast, Appellant admits that the JAA will likely obtain \$900 million from the Majestic Participating Ground Lease, while Majestic, having taken all of the risk, will obtain approximately \$100 million more than that. (R: 97, 13, 14, 28)

departure from both case law and logic for the JAA to be able to lease property without charge, but not with a high probability of obtaining significant payments.

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